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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Good afternoon,

          3  Ladies and Gentlemen.  My name is Joel Rivera.  I'm

          4  the Chair of the Council's Health Committee.  This

          5  afternoon we're going to be investigating the City's

          6  efforts to overcome language barriers in the health

          7  care provision.

          8                 New York City is a City of

          9  immigrants.  Over 35 percent of New Yorkers are

         10  foreign born, and there are more than 100 different

         11  languages spoken in this City.  Our extraordinary

         12  diversity is a widely recognized characteristic of

         13  New York and is something that we are enormously

         14  proud of.  However, having such a large, diverse

         15  immigrant population presents many challenges for

         16  the health care system.  People with limited English

         17  skills need quality translation services in order to

         18  have access to the best possible health care.

         19                 Many studies have shown that limited

         20  English skills can have a tremendous impact on the

         21  quality of health care a person may receive.  Poor

         22  and inadequate translation services can lead to

         23  costly and harmful medical errors, medication

         24  mistakes and other negative outcomes.

         25                 Moreover, translation services have
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          2  to be culturally sensitive.  Physicians and support

          3  staff need to know how to effectively communicate

          4  with immigrants and non-English speakers.  With our

          5  immigrant population growing every year, overcoming

          6  the language barrier is becoming more and more

          7  important.

          8                 In 2006, the New York State

          9  Department of Health created new regulations for

         10  language access.  These regulations go a long way

         11  towards addressing many of the issues faced by

         12  people with limited English skills.  Today we will

         13  hear from the Health and Hospitals Corporation about

         14  how these regulations are being enforced and what

         15  more needs to be done.

         16                 But adequate language access isn't

         17  just about hospitals.  We need to make sure that

         18  medical providers and health care officials at all

         19  levels of the health care system are working to

         20  overcome language barriers.  We're happy to have

         21  immigrant and health care advocates here today who

         22  can testify to what efforts are being made outside

         23  of our hospitals to ensure adequate language access.

         24

         25                 Now I'd like to introduce my
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          2  colleagues on the Committee who are here with us

          3  today.  We have Council Member Inez Dickens to my

          4  far right, Council Member Helen Sears, and then, of

          5  course, we have Counsel to the Committee, Josh and

          6  Adira.

          7                 At this point in time we're going to

          8  ask the New York City Health and Hospital

          9  Corporation to please join us and give their

         10  testimony.  Good afternoon.  Thank you, you may

         11  begin. Working out the technical difficulties.  Yes,

         12  please.  Press the button.

         13                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Good afternoon,

         14  I'm Dr. Karen Scott-Collins.  I'm the Deputy Chief

         15  Medical Officer for the New York City Health and

         16  Hospitals Corporation, and I oversee centrally our

         17  office on quality improvement and innovation in

         18  health care.

         19                 We're very pleased to have the

         20  opportunity this afternoon to update the Council on

         21  our progress in implementing the New York State

         22  regulations, as well as our related work in

         23  improving language access services across the

         24  corporation.

         25                 For HHC, I'm on the second page on
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          2  the hand- out, for HHC, overcoming communication

          3  barriers in health care is one of our priorities.

          4  It's a priority because it is so integral to

          5  providing safe and effective health care that will

          6  help improve the health outcomes of the populations

          7  we serve.

          8                 As you'll see from the presentation,

          9  LEP patients make up a significant share of the

         10  patients that we see every day, and the diversity of

         11  that population is really quite broad.  More than

         12  100 languages are spoken at facilities every day,

         13  and the LEP patient population, we estimate,

         14  comprises about 50 percent of the patients we serve

         15  in many of our facilities.

         16                 You'll see also that we're very proud

         17  of many of the innovations that we have been working

         18  on in language access services in order to meet the

         19  needs of the population we serve.

         20                 The third slide shows you a pie

         21  chart.  This is based on census data.  It gives us

         22  the sense of the communities around the City that

         23  HHC serves, and it shows us that in those

         24  communities, just over half of the patient

         25  population reports to the census that they speak a
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          2  language other than English at home. As you would

          3  expect, about half of that population reports

          4  Spanish as the primary language they speak at home,

          5  but there are another 9 or 10 languages that are

          6  highly prevalent in the communities we serve

          7  including Chinese, Russian, French, Creole and many

          8  of the Indic languages, Urdu, Bengali and Hindu.

          9                 Beyond that, the census data also

         10  shows us that there are many less prevalent

         11  dialects, but because we serve such a large

         12  population, even some of the less prevalent dialects

         13  still translate into a good number of patients that

         14  we have to be able to serve on a regular basis.

         15                 The forces that focus on driving

         16  language access across the health care system

         17  nationally really have multiple parts and related to

         18  both access as well as quality.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  We could

         20  probably forego the PowerPoint presentation.  It's

         21  becoming too distracting to have to be constantly

         22  back and forth.  We'll just refer to the printed out

         23  version, so that way there's not too much

         24  distraction.  Okay, sorry about that.

         25                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  That's okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Makes everyone

          3  be a little bit more prepared.

          4                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  So I'm on page

          5  four of the hand out.  Some of the forces that have

          6  really helped focused the health care system broadly

          7  on language barriers include firstly, the legal and

          8  regulatory requirements that really identified

          9  language access as a critical part of access to

         10  health care, starting with the Civil Rights Act from

         11  1964.  This was significantly highlighted in 2000 by

         12  President Clinton's Executive Orders related to the

         13  initiatives on reducing disparities in health care

         14  and really reinforced in 2002 by Secretary Thompson

         15  when he became Secretary of Health and Human

         16  Services.

         17                 Most recently, the State Department

         18  of Health regulations really, I think

         19  operationalized much of that federal guidance and

         20  regulation, and particularly with respect to the

         21  hospitals.

         22                 But we also, in addition to those

         23  access requirements, know that increasingly have

         24  good evidence for the importance of addressing

         25  language barriers in order to achieve safer care and
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          2  higher quality care.  There's a growing literature

          3  to support this over the past few years, which

          4  documents that patients with limited English

          5  proficiency in the U.S. make fewer physician visits.

          6  There's a higher rate of medical errors, a higher

          7  rate of using in  excess or inappropriate resources,

          8  so perhaps doing more lab tests or a CAT scan, or

          9  admitting a patient because you can't figure out

         10  what's wrong with them through their communicating

         11  with them.  Other literature documents the reduced

         12  adherence to medications, poor ability for the

         13  patient to manage their illness, particularly with a

         14  chronic illness and lower satisfaction with health

         15  care.

         16                 With respect to medical errors and

         17  adverse events, the next slide on page six, it just

         18  provides some data from a very recent pilot study

         19  from the Joint Commission, which looked at all of

         20  the reports they receive of adverse medical events.

         21  These are significant medical errors that have

         22  resulted in some type of harm to the patient.  What

         23  they found was that LEP patients were twice as

         24  likely to have experienced an adverse event in the

         25  hospital that resulted in some level of physical
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          2  harm compared with English speaking patients, and

          3  that the adverse events in LEP patients were more

          4  likely to be the result of communication errors

          5  between the patient and the provider or staff.

          6                 Earlier work from the Commonwealth

          7  Fund also documented the disparities in the quality

          8  of care that can be received by LEP patients, and

          9  slide 7 shows the differences in experience with

         10  respect to a range of communication problems between

         11  patient and physician when the patient's primary

         12  language is not English.

         13                 So in 2006, the New York State

         14  Department of Health issued further regulations for

         15  hospitals on improving language access services.

         16  The key aspects of those are on page 8 of your hand-

         17  out, and they include creating a language access

         18  program to ensure reasonable access for all LEP

         19  patients, appointing language assistance

         20  coordinators, adopting policies and procedures to

         21  assure provision of language access services,

         22  posting signage and distributing materials to

         23  publicize the availability of free language access

         24  services, provide training to staff on the

         25  importance of effective communication and how to
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          2  access the services in the facility, identify each

          3  patient's language needs and document in the medical

          4  record, permit the use of family, friends or

          5  children under 16 only in cases of emergency and

          6  make available translations of all significant

          7  hospital forms.

          8                 I'm going to next just summarize

          9  briefly what HHC has been doing in relation to these

         10  eight points.  I'm pleased to say that in several of

         11  these areas we were able to help inform the State

         12  regulations because we had been working along these

         13  lines, particularly over the past three or four

         14  years and putting some of these in place prior to

         15  the regulations.  That's particularly so in the case

         16  of having language access coordinators.  About three

         17  and a half years ago we established a network of LEP

         18  coordinators across the corporation, both of someone

         19  in central office and then LEP coordinators in each

         20  of our seven networks who are the more locally

         21  responsible for overseeing implementation of

         22  language access services, as well as identifying

         23  what the needs are specific to their facilities and

         24  to their communities.  They have been our leads

         25  locally on identifying and facilitating training of
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          2  interpreters, as well as making sure that the

          3  translation materials get translated that are needed

          4  throughout the corporation, and publicizing what the

          5  corporation has available throughout the system.

          6                 Each network also has an LEP policy

          7  and procedure manual for language assistance

          8  services, and these are available and posted on a

          9  corporate internet site that's dedicated to LEP

         10  services.

         11                 Secondly, on training on the

         12  importance and effectiveness of communication and

         13  access to services, in our facilities this training

         14  has been incorporated into new employee

         15  orientations, so how to access our telephone

         16  interpretation services or how to call for an

         17  interpreter, are becoming part of our regular

         18  employee orientation, and then is reinforced at the

         19  facility levels through regular meetings at the

         20  departmental level, as well as local communication

         21  through newsletters and flyers. Certainly, whenever

         22  there is a special event related to LEP or a

         23  project, that's another opportunity to reinforce the

         24  services that are available to our patients.

         25                 Next, in terms of posting signage for
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          2  the availability of free services, on page 11 you

          3  see a picture of the signs that are now completed

          4  and have been distributed around the corporation.

          5  This was an effort to make sure that we standardized

          6  the signage, and we were very clear in that signage

          7  about the provision of free interpreter services,

          8  which is a key priority of the Office of Civil

          9  Rights requirements, and those signs are in the 15,

         10  plus sign language, of the most common languages we

         11  have across the corporation.

         12                 In addition, we have been developing

         13  standards for large signage for the facilities and

         14  particularly as our newer facilities are finished

         15  and open up this new formatting for signage, which

         16  allows for more languages and clearer legibility are

         17  being put up in the facilities.

         18                 Examples of that are on the next page

         19  in the new hospital building at Coney Island

         20  Hospital.  You can see from the slide on page 12 an

         21  example of some of the signage, both the large,

         22  multi- colored information symbol, and then in this

         23  case Coney Island selected the English plus four of

         24  their most commonly required languages to put on

         25  their signage, but it's created in a format so that
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          2  other languages can be added or changed as the

          3  community's needs change.  Page 13 is again another

          4  example of signage that's up in the Coney Island

          5  Hospital in terms of specific locations, as well as

          6  our free interpreter services sign.

          7                 One of the other requirements of the

          8  state regulations is being able to identify

          9  patient's language needs and document on the patient

         10  medical record.  We currently do this in a number of

         11  ways around the facility, but as we transfer over to

         12  a largely electronic medical system, we have a

         13  number of pilot efforts at our facilities now to

         14  identify the best way to make sure we get accurate

         15  data collection as part of the electronic record.

         16                 Finally, in terms of the use of

         17  family, friends and children, again, our policies

         18  are very specific, and all have language and

         19  guidance for staff on how to approach if a patient

         20  wants to use a family member for interpretation, to

         21  make sure that there's a clear offer and

         22  understanding of the availability of free

         23  interpreter services and that we really try only to

         24  use those in cases of an extreme emergency or when

         25  there's no other way to get information that's
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          2  required urgently.

          3                 Next, in the state regulations among

          4  our own priorities has been making available

          5  translations of significant forms.  We established a

          6  corporate internet site for LEP about three and a

          7  half years ago, and this has really become our

          8  resource for multi- lingual documents.  It contains

          9  both key documents such as informed consents,

         10  patient privacy documents, as well as instructions

         11  and information for patients on different conditions

         12  and instructions on particular tests if they're

         13  coming in, for example, for a mammography.

         14                 It also has allowed us to standardize

         15  the translation process and what gets posted and

         16  disseminated across the corporation, so we now

         17  translate materials for the internet in a

         18  standardized way with a set of vendors and make that

         19  available in at least 12 languages that we think of

         20  as our core languages, our most common languages,

         21  and then, of course, others as facilities let us

         22  know that new languages are needed.

         23                 Page 17 just has a couple of pictures

         24  of the internet site, which you won't be able to

         25  read very well, but just to try to give you a sense
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          2  that, again, both a lot of the key documents, all of

          3  the informed consents and other key documents,

          4  Patient Bill of Rights are there, as well as growing

          5  library of information for patients on different

          6  conditions, on diabetes, on managing a chronic

          7  illness, as well as instructions for preparing to

          8  come to the hospital or to have a particular test.

          9                 So while the New York State

         10  regulations address much of the infrastructure for

         11  language assistance programs, another area where we

         12  have put a lot of our effort has been to increase

         13  our actual interpreter capacity.  Certainly, a

         14  challenge with as large and diverse a population

         15  with interpretation needs as we have, our approach

         16  has been to feel that we need several complementary

         17  modes of interpretation because of the diversity and

         18  the size of our population, but also because of the

         19  diversity of the types of settings in which we need

         20  interpretation, not only an outpatient setting where

         21  a patient may be coming in for a primary care visit

         22  and need a discussion about a preventive test, but

         23  also for a patient who may be on a ventilator in the

         24  ICU but still require the ability to communicate and

         25  to understand what's happening around them, or a
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          2  woman who's in labor and delivery.

          3                 So we think in terms of needing

          4  multiple modes to be able to meet the many different

          5  settings that we're in.  This means we've worked on

          6  trying to increase capacity with respect to in

          7  person interpreters, and that's both having some

          8  staff who have spent a fair amount of time, who are

          9  now trained in interpretation and provide that

         10  service, as well as having language banks with both

         11  volunteers and staff available, again trained and

         12  available to provide this service.

         13                 Part of building up our ability to

         14  have this trained staff has been to develop ways of

         15  assessing basic language skills and literacy skills

         16  and then providing training for staff and medical

         17  interpretation.  But the goal is to get to a level

         18  where we have a standardized approach with respect

         19  to interpretation across the corporation.

         20                 Complementary to in- person

         21  interpreters, certainly critical to our ability to

         22  meet the needs, is also having the availability of

         23  telephone services using dual handsets, and all of

         24  our hospitals have contracts with one or two of the

         25  large services who provide over- the- phone
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          2  telephone interpretation services.

          3                 Finally, the innovations that our

          4  team has been to make with respect to TEMIS is

          5  really giving us new opportunities to expand our

          6  capacity, and I'll come back to the TEMIS program

          7  specifically in just a bit.

          8                 Page 19 just was an example of not

          9  only do we need to do the training and build up the

         10  interpreter staff, but we also have to work on

         11  training our staff to know how to work with

         12  interpreters, particularly certainly the clinical

         13  staff, the physicians and other clinicians who will

         14  often be the other person in the room with the

         15  interpreter.  Queens has done a nice job of

         16  beginning to do some of that sort of training and

         17  communicating directly with the hospital staff on

         18  how to work with this additional resource as well as

         19  training more staff.

         20                 On page 20 we've just summarized some

         21  of the efforts we've made in building up our

         22  training in medical interpretation, both in

         23  developing screening tools to identify staff who had

         24  the right skills in terms of language, English and

         25  other languages to do interpreter training,
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          2  facilitating and bringing to the corporation more

          3  opportunities to do that.  This is typically a 40

          4  hour training, so it's a commitment in terms of time

          5  from the staff as well as the corporation.  Some of

          6  our LEP coordinators have also participated in the

          7  trainer course, so they can now begin to do some of

          8  that additional training with staff locally in their

          9  facilities.

         10                 We're very excited about a new

         11  project.  We have, in collaboration with the Center

         12  for Immigrant Health at NYU in Bellevue, and with

         13  support from the Altman Foundation, creating a web-

         14  based training program in order to try to increase

         15  the access and flexibility of interpreter training,

         16  so that more of our staff can have access to that

         17  kind of skills building.

         18                 On page 21, I'm going just to

         19  summarize this for you, some additional activities

         20  over the past couple of years in terms of training

         21  in different networks in Queens, Bellevue and in

         22  Generations Plus, where you'll see that, again,

         23  we've really been trying to steadily build up a

         24  cadre of staff who have a full set of training in

         25  medical interpretation.
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          2                 On page 22, we wanted to spend a

          3  moment specifically on the TEMIS program since we

          4  think this innovation in medical interpretation

          5  really holds a lot of promise for us to be able to

          6  significantly expand our capacity across the

          7  corporation.  The TEMIS stands for the Team and

          8  Technology Enhanced Medical Interpretation System.

          9  This is a system which also relies on over- the-

         10  phone technology, but both the patient and the

         11  physician or provider have a wireless headset and

         12  the interpreter is physically somewhere else, is

         13  physically removed from the examining room or the

         14  location, so the only people directly in the

         15  encounter are the clinician and the patient.  So it

         16  makes it much more of a direct conversation.

         17                 The interpretation is simultaneous,

         18  so almost as instantly as one party is speaking,

         19  it's being translated and transmitted to the other

         20  party.  A recent evaluation, which is just being

         21  completed on TEMIS, is showing some very promising

         22  results for us with respect to showing fewer errors

         23  in interpretation than the modalities we've been

         24  relying on, greater efficiency in being able to

         25  access the interpreter service, and better outcomes

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  in terms of some of the clinical outcomes and

          3  patient satisfaction outcomes that they're looking

          4  at, so very promising for us in terms of really

          5  advancing the field of interpretation.

          6                 TEMIS, as you may know, over the past

          7  five years or so has also received some significant

          8  national and state recognition for the innovation of

          9  their program, and this started from a pilot program

         10  at Gouverneur in 1999.

         11                 Our current work on expanding TEMIS

         12  includes now being available throughout Gouverneur

         13  Diagnostic and Treatment Center and available in

         14  most parts of Bellevue.  We've just completed

         15  implementation at the Women's Health Clinic of Kings

         16  County and are now moving on to expanding to the

         17  East New York Diagnostic and Treatment Center and

         18  then throughout Kings County Hospital.  That is due

         19  to significant support from the City Council in

         20  order to make that happen.

         21                 On page 23 to give you a little bit

         22  more detail on what TEMIS is able to provide for us,

         23  physically right now the call center for the program

         24  is based at Bellevue.  There are 25 trained

         25  interpreters, along with two language coaches,
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          2  experts who are able to continually check the

          3  quality of the interpretation provided, and the call

          4  center is open during the week from 8 to 6.  The

          5  languages are listed on your slide include Spanish,

          6  Mandarin, Cantonese, Fukinese, Bengali, French,

          7  Haitian Creole and Polish. So the program really has

          8  expanded over the past three or four years in order

          9  to meet the needs of more of our facilities in

         10  different communities.  Again, we're seeing benefits

         11  in terms of efficiency, in terms of accuracy and in

         12  terms of having a model for having within HHC a very

         13  professional workforce in medical interpretation.

         14                 Our goals and hopes in terms of

         15  expansion of TEMIS are to continue to work with

         16  central Brooklyn and south Manhattan, but also begin

         17  to work with the Bronx, northern Manhattan and

         18  Queens to expand the availability of TEMIS.

         19                 Finally, I wanted to highlight a

         20  number of areas where our work on language access

         21  really directly links with our corporate wide

         22  initiatives on safety and quality improvement, which

         23  really reflects for us our recognition that we can't

         24  meet our goals in safety and quality improvement if

         25  we're not addressing these language barriers.
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          2                 With respect to chronic disease work,

          3  as we develop and test new materials to help

          4  patients manage their chronic illnesses, we, of

          5  course, translate those and make those available to

          6  our facilities in all of the languages that I

          7  referenced earlier.

          8                 On the next couple of pages you have

          9  a couple examples of those.  On page 25 is what we

         10  call a heart failure action plan.  This is used in

         11  our heart failure clinics and cardiology clinics to

         12  guide patients on knowing when they need to contact

         13  the doctor, or when they need to come to the

         14  hospital based on their symptoms, and we now

         15  translate these sheets into several languages.

         16                 The Asthma Action Plan is available

         17  to our clinics in Spanish, as well as English, and

         18  on page 27 is just an example of some of our most

         19  recent work on pediatric obesity prevention,

         20  communicating some simple messages.  Again, we're

         21  doing these in a bilingual format starting with

         22  Spanish and English on those as well.

         23                 In terms of safety, a major focus has

         24  been on providing medication instructions, and this

         25  is really linking not only addressing language
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          2  barriers but literacy as well.  We're building,

          3  again with some support from the Altman Foundation,

          4  building on some very exciting work from the

          5  Bellevue Pediatric Program on how to communicate

          6  more effectively with patients about the correct way

          7  to take their medications.

          8                 On the next slide on page 29 you'll

          9  see a very draft version of one of these medication

         10  instruction sheets where you'll see both translated,

         11  but also more use of photographs and pictures to be

         12  able to communicate more effectively and safely on

         13  how to take medications.

         14                 Another area in which we're combining

         15  both literacy and language around a safety and

         16  quality issue is related to pain management during

         17  labor.  Our OB team at Lincoln Hospital has been

         18  working to improve patients' understanding of pain

         19  management. This document for patients is translated

         20  into Spanish, but we also worked with the Literacy

         21  Assistance Center based here in New York City to

         22  make sure that we were creating this at an education

         23  and literacy level that would make the material more

         24  accessible and more understandable to the patients.

         25  One of the very nice additions that they made to it
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          2  was to leave a section for asking questions, or for

          3  writing down what they didn't understand, which

          4  really helps us know how to communicate better with

          5  the patients.

          6                 In sum, HHC is committed to language

          7  access as part of our overall commitment to serving

          8  our patients' needs, and certainly as part of our

          9  commitment to patient safety and the quality of care

         10  we're providing.  While government funding

         11  specifically for LEP services has been quite

         12  limited, and we're not in a state where Medicaid

         13  reimburses for LEP services, we have continued to do

         14  what we can with the resources we have.

         15                 We estimate that we currently spend

         16  about $1 to $2 million per year per facility for a

         17  combination of the various services that I've

         18  described, interpreters, LEP coordinators,

         19  navigators, training and interpretation, the

         20  translation of material and signage.  That means

         21  that we're spending about more than $20 million a

         22  year on language services as a system, but we

         23  estimate that an additional $20 million would be

         24  needed to really fully meet the needs both in

         25  additional upgrades such as TEMIS, as well as
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          2  ongoing services.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          4  much for your presentation, and we just have a

          5  couple of questions.  I do want to apologize in

          6  advance.  We do have a Land Use meeting to complete

          7  simultaneously across the street, so I'm just going

          8  to ask my question, and then I'm going to allow

          9  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo to take over

         10  while I go vote and then come back to continue

         11  chairing.  Is any member on this Committee not on

         12  Land Use, as a matter of fact?  Kendall, are you on

         13  Land Use?  You're not on Land Use, so maybe we'll

         14  have Kendall chair the Committee, so all the Land

         15  Use members can go.

         16                 My question briefly is, what sort of

         17  flexibility do individual HHC facilities have in

         18  creating a language access plan to fit the specific

         19  needs of their communities?  What flexibility do

         20  they have?

         21                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Sure.  Quite a

         22  bit.  We've tried to balance having some

         23  corporate-wide guidance and standards that certainly

         24  follow the New York State regulations and the Office

         25  of Civil Rights, and we've focused there
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          2  particularly on the policies that they've developed

          3  to make sure that they do address some of the very

          4  specific areas that need to be addressed, such as

          5  having signage, such as having a way of identifying

          6  patients or not inappropriately using family

          7  members.  But we're very much dependent and need to

          8  support the facilities to be innovative and to

          9  create programs that really do address the

         10  communities that they're serving, as well as take

         11  advantage often of the talents and skills of the

         12  staff that they have locally on site.  In fact, we

         13  have many examples of what has become more of a

         14  corporate program that started off as a local

         15  program.  TEMIS is an example of that, and we have

         16  others certainly from the work in Queens, from the

         17  volunteer program at Bellevue, that we sort of take

         18  on as a corporate- wide based on the success it in

         19  pilot.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Fantastic.

         21  Thank you.  At this point in time I know my

         22  colleague, Council Member John Liu has the line of

         23  questioning, and I'll ask my colleague, Council

         24  Member Kendall Stewart to please fill in for me

         25  while I go vote.  Thank you.  We'll be right back.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Just tell them

          3  to hold the vote open for me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Thank you very

          6  much, Dr. Collins.  I think it's great.  Look, I

          7  think hospital and health care services are

          8  critical, and there have been a lot of problems when

          9  people have not been able to get the care they need,

         10  especially in emergency room situations where

         11  there's a language barrier, and it has resulted in

         12  some very, in some cases tragic, consequences.

         13                 My question is, the success of the

         14  program at HHC is undeniable.  It still is reliant

         15  upon translation, third party translation.  Nothing

         16  wrong with that, that's a lot better than no

         17  transaction at all.  I think though we also have to

         18  now start looking at the next milestone in truly

         19  providing services to people and trying to minimize

         20  the language barriers as much as possible. To me,

         21  I've been saying for a few years now that we should

         22  be looking at hiring people with multi-lingual

         23  skills.  Is that an effort that HHC is beginning to

         24  undertake?

         25                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  I think we have a
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          2  number of efforts that help us in that area as well.

          3    While we focus on these aspects of language

          4  services that we sort of go out and bring in, I

          5  think one of the strengths of HHC is we do have such

          6  a diverse staff and that we have an ability to tap

          7  into a staff and skills in our staff that perhaps

          8  other facilities outside HHC do not have.

          9                 Many of the networks do certainly

         10  have had different initiatives to increase

         11  recruitment of members of staff from the

         12  communities, as well as really looking for bilingual

         13  staff.  We actually have a new nursing initiative

         14  that is bringing over nurses from China for a two to

         15  three year period for training and to help with

         16  nurses, but it also provides us with a great

         17  additional resource in terms of having those

         18  bilingual skills available directly between the

         19  provider and the patient.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So the language

         21  skills, the multi- lingual skills are becoming more

         22  prevalent within the ranks of the HHC employees, and

         23  you're saying essentially that there's a concerted

         24  effort to make that happen as opposed to it just

         25  happening by coincidence?
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          2                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  We have a number

          3  of efforts that look at increasing the number of

          4  bilingual employees that we have, and particularly

          5  as we think about both on the nursing, but that

          6  nursing example, as we've increased our patient

          7  navigator program where all the navigators are all

          8  bilingual or multi-bilingual providers.

          9                 The other thing that we've been

         10  focusing on because we know so much of our

         11  professional staff are physicians and RNs, are

         12  bilingual or multi- lingual, we've also been

         13  focusing on an effective way to assess their

         14  language skills, so that we have evidence in terms

         15  of the quality of care we're providing that if

         16  there's communication directly between the

         17  physician, say and patient in another language, that

         18  those are skills are up to par.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Obviously, the

         20  Health and Hospitals Corporation is not a

         21  corporation in the traditional sense of the word,

         22  but most major corporations, especially in a City

         23  like New York, they have a general practice of

         24  paying a premium for people with valued skills,

         25  language skills being one of those valued skills.
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          2  Does HHC pay a premium?  Is there some kind of a

          3  salary differential for this kind of valuable skill?

          4                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  We do not, and I

          5  believe we're consistent with other City agencies on

          6  not being able to do that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Okay.  So then

          8  how is it a concerted effort to establish those

          9  language skills within the agency, as opposed to it

         10  just happening by coincidence?

         11                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Effort in terms

         12  of identifying that as a need and looking for

         13  employees or staff who speak those languages or

         14  identifying that we need staff who speak specific

         15  languages.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  So even if there

         17  is no pay differential or salary premium on those

         18  language skills, would there then be in the hiring

         19  process would there be an explicit recognition that

         20  the language skill is a plus?  In other words, all

         21  things being equal for two applicants for the same

         22  position, if one of them happens to have a language

         23  skill and the other one does not, would the former

         24  person be that much more likely to be hired? Is

         25  there an explicit acknowledgment of that language
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          2  skill, or is it just kind of like in that fuzzy,

          3  we'd like to have people who speak different

          4  languages, but there's not really any kind of

          5  explicit parameter set?

          6                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  I would say that

          7  we are looking to be able to meet the needs of our

          8  patients, so it's a specific part of what we look

          9  for, but I should get back to you with more

         10  specifics on the hiring process.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  It would be

         12  helpful.  I think there are some, few at this point,

         13  but some agencies in New York City government where

         14  even though there is no agency that I know of that

         15  offers a pay differential or salary premium for that

         16  language skill, there are a couple of agencies that

         17  I think are listing linguistic ability other than as

         18  English as an explicit criteria by which people

         19  would be hired.  Obviously, there's the ability to

         20  communicate, there's the general teamwork aspect,

         21  the level of expertise, but I'd like to see if we're

         22  really trying to make sure that the language skills

         23  are there in the agency, that should be an explicit

         24  factor in the hiring process.  So if you could

         25  follow up with me on that point, that would be very,
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          2  very helpful.

          3                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Sure, I'll get

          4  the specifics on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  And then the

          6  other thing you mentioned that there is some

          7  recruiting, for example, of nurses from China.  So

          8  are we talking about people who have already

          9  immigrated here to New York, and then HHC hires

         10  them?  Or are you saying that the agency is actually

         11  recruiting people from say, universities or medical

         12  schools?

         13                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  This is a special

         14  program to expand the education and training, and

         15  it's really a pilot program that's being funded by a

         16  foundation to our corporate nursing office, so

         17  recruitment is probably not the right word in terms

         18  of us actively going out and pulling people from

         19  another country, but it's being developed as a pilot

         20  to create some training opportunities for nurses to

         21  come here and train for awhile, but it also

         22  certainly expands our capacity in terms of nursing

         23  while they're working here.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  But it's more

         25  like a temporary internship?
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          2                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  It's more of an

          3  exchange.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  Is what it is.

          5                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU:  All right, so

          7  that doesn't really contribute that significantly to

          8  diversifying the language skills within the agency.

          9  So anyway, I'm just trying to encourage HHC.  You're

         10  far ahead of what the average City agency is doing,

         11  but necessarily so, because we're talking about life

         12  and death situations.  At the same time I think that

         13  even though the agency has made a great deal of

         14  progress, I think we need to start looking at that

         15  next step where it's not necessarily the third party

         16  translations that we're always relying upon.  A lot

         17  of times that information gets lost, so to the

         18  extent that we can attract skills necessary in terms

         19  of the medical personnel and other staff members of

         20  the HHC, recruit people, and explicitly recognize

         21  their language skills, I think that's really where

         22  we should be heading in the long- term, and if HHC

         23  could lead the rest of the City, I think that would

         24  be great.  Thank you, Dr. Collins.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.  By
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          2  virtue of the fact that I'm now the Chair, I'm going

          3  to ask a couple of questions to follow through.

          4  Just follow through on the fact that there is no

          5  differential for language skills, is there any

          6  training for the staff for folks who in specific

          7  areas, for example, if you were in an area that the

          8  populous there is mainly Spanish speaking, that the

          9  staff would be sent to learn to speak Spanish?  Or

         10  some sort of special training for Spanish for the

         11  professionals at that institution?

         12                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  I know a couple

         13  of our facilities have had programs where they make

         14  language courses available to the staff for general

         15  improvement of their language skills.  We have tried

         16  to be focused on identifying those bilingual staff

         17  who already have strong language skills and giving

         18  them the additional training in medical

         19  interpretation, so that we can have a level of

         20  quality and accuracy and professionalism around the

         21  interpretation in the encounter with the

         22  interpreter.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, what I'm

         24  looking at is, I would like to know that if there's

         25  maybe some effort to have the nurses in that area in

                                                            36

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  that institution if it's an area that folks mostly

          3  speak Spanish, that they get to learn to speak

          4  Spanish, maybe to go take a crash course in Spanish.

          5    Likewise, if it's an area of French speaking

          6  populous, then they would go get a crash course in

          7  learning to speak French.

          8                 If there's no effort by HHC to do

          9  that, I would like to know basically when you do

         10  recruiting, for example, if you need a nurse in an

         11  area in let's say, for example, in upper Manhattan

         12  where there are a lot of Spanish speaking folks, was

         13  is it Manhattanites, would you call that area?  That

         14  in a lot of Spanish speaking, you would recruit

         15  Spanish speaking nurses, or you would look for

         16  someone who can speak English and Spanish at the

         17  time when you're doing your recruiting rather than

         18  just someone who's just speaks English, and then you

         19  go into the same problem again. Likewise, if in

         20  central Brooklyn around Kings County area you might

         21  somebody who speaks French or Creole and also

         22  English if you're doing your recruiting.

         23                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Certainly, and

         24  that certainly is a priority, and as you said, we

         25  will get back to the Council with more specifics on
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          2  the human resources and the recruiting process. If I

          3  may just comment, while some of our facilities have

          4  made some of these language courses available, we do

          5  feel that in terms of making sure that we have an

          6  accurate quality translation in a medical encounter

          7  that the preference is to use a trained interpreter

          8  where we know the level of the language skills.

          9                 We know from experience with doing

         10  sort of crash courses in languages for physicians,

         11  and particularly for medical residents, that they

         12  learn a little bit of a language, and then they

         13  think that they're proficient in it, and they have

         14  some of the highest rates of making errors in

         15  interpretation, but they're the least likely ones to

         16  kind of say they need help and bring in an

         17  interpreter.  So we want certainly to increase

         18  everyone's skills and ability to communicate with

         19  patients, but we also want to be careful that where

         20  we really need an accurate interpretation that we

         21  have the right people doing it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You also spoke

         23  about recruitment.  There used to be an effort to go

         24  overseas to recruit nurses, at least to some of the

         25  institutions in here in New York. In doing so, is
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          2  that one of the methods you use to at least pair up

          3  with the institution?

          4                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Again, I

          5  apologize.  I really misspoke in terms of calling

          6  that a recruitment effort.  It is bringing some

          7  nurses from China here.  It is more of an exchange

          8  program and a pilot program around training.  It

          9  does bring some additional bilingual nurses to our

         10  facilities, but it is not a recruitment effort in

         11  the sense that kind of going out and just bringing

         12  them in.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That pilot

         14  program would be if you're going to China, would you

         15  be focusing on helping out in Chinatown area, for

         16  example, in areas where you have a lot of Chinese?

         17                 DR. SCOTT-COLLINS:  Right.  The pilot

         18  program, because it's with a university in China,

         19  and those nurses will be based at Bellevue in

         20  Gouverneur.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  I

         22  want to thank you very much.  Our next panel we have

         23  Ruth Finklestein and Linda Weiss from the New York

         24  Academy of Medicine and also Maysoun Freij, did I

         25  pronounce it right?  Maysoun Freij.  Did I pronounce
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          2  Ruth Finklestein right?  And Linda Weiss?  All

          3  right, very close.  What you can do basically is,

          4  first you identify yourself, then we get right into

          5  it.

          6                 MS. FINKLESTEIN:  Thank you very

          7  much, sir.  Linda and I are going to be testifying

          8  in turns about a number of efforts that we've made

          9  at the New York Academy of Medicine to better

         10  understand how best to enhance access to health

         11  services for people with limited English

         12  proficiency.  My name is Dr. Ruth Finklestein. I'm

         13  the Director of Health Policy at the New York

         14  Academy of Medicine.  This is Dr. Weiss, Senior

         15  Research Associate there.

         16                 I don't need to tell you that there

         17  are nearly three million immigrants in New York

         18  speaking 100 languages, and so the issues of

         19  language proficiency are non- trivial here.

         20                 What we want to emphasize is that

         21  while most of the focus on translation is on either

         22  interpretation and translation or, best of all,

         23  linguistic competency in the medical encounter, that

         24  the medical encounter is just one part of the whole

         25  continuum of services that are needed to have
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          2  adequate health.  Health promotion and disease

          3  prevention are key, and there's not enough attention

          4  to the issues of cultural competency and translation

          5  in those areas.  Access to health insurance,

          6  particularly public insurance, is key and there's

          7  not enough attention to that they encounter, and

          8  then prescribing and understanding what's been

          9  prescribed is also key.

         10                 I'm going to talk a little bit about

         11  access to health insurance, and Dr. Weiss is going

         12  to talk a little bit about prescriptions.  We did a

         13  study of women who had children who had been

         14  uninsured within the last couple of years despite

         15  eligibility for either Medicaid or Child Help Plus.

         16  These women were either Haitian speaking, French

         17  Creole speaking from Haiti, Spanish speaking from a

         18  number of different countries, or Russian speaking,

         19  also from a number of different countries.  What we

         20  learned isn't shocking when you think about it, but

         21  you never think about it, is that the access to

         22  enrollment information and materials and assistance

         23  was extremely limited.  Ironically, what was most

         24  available translated into multiple languages was, of

         25  course, recruitment into the managed care plans.
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          2  But the same managed care plans issuing these multi-

          3  lingual brochures did not then have the capacity to

          4  serve people in the many languages that they were

          5  advertising in.

          6                 In doing these interviews, we learned

          7  of women who had been turned away from Medicaid

          8  offices saying you need to bring your own

          9  interpreter with you for us to be able to process

         10  your application, women who had been made fun of by

         11  workers saying you need to speak English if you're

         12  going to apply for these benefits to which they're

         13  entitled.  We had women describing their children

         14  being asked to translate, which, of course, is a

         15  theme.  We hear it over and over again in medical

         16  encounters where obviously, it's horrible, but when

         17  you're thinking about applying for benefits, do you

         18  necessarily want your children to have to delve into

         19  your family finances?  It's incredibly

         20  inappropriate, and the youngest child asked to

         21  translate among the women we interviewed was 3,

         22  extremely well qualified, I'm sure, to help his

         23  family get the benefits that they needed.

         24                 So these are the points that were

         25  raised over and over again.  A couple of specific
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          2  points to keep in mind are that these centers have

          3  different levels of competency, and there are

          4  different levels of competency for different

          5  languages, so that it's particularly problematic if

          6  you speak a language less common, but also if you

          7  live in an area where there aren't so many of

          8  whatever speaker you are, that the chance of having

          9  competency in the center where you are approaches

         10  zero.  We heard women over and over again describe

         11  having to return over and over and over again to

         12  Medicaid centers that were across town from where

         13  they were, of course, bringing their children with

         14  them.  That's an issue.

         15                 The situations, not shockingly, were

         16  worse for the French Creole speakers and Russian

         17  speakers than they were for the Spanish speakers

         18  though there was a shocking, shocking lack of even

         19  Spanish linguistic competency reported by nearly

         20  half of our respondents.

         21                 The things that people reported as

         22  helping them through this situation are some of the

         23  community- based organizations and the facilitated

         24  enrollers who come with them, help bring

         25  applications to them, and so forth, but many, many
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          2  people reported not being aware of those services,

          3  stumbling upon them after failures of the regular

          4  system to serve them, and it's clear that there's

          5  not enough of a connection between people who

          6  somehow end up in the Medicaid office and those

          7  forms of assistance.  Thank you.

          8                 MS. WEISS:  As Ruth said, I'm Linda

          9  Weiss.  I'm a Senior Research Associate at the New

         10  York Academy of Medicine.  I also wanted to talk

         11  about a part of health care outside of the main

         12  medical encounter, which is linguistically

         13  accessible medication instructions.

         14                 Obviously, prescription medications

         15  are key to treatment for a number of illnesses, but

         16  also, obviously, you need to understand your

         17  medication instructions, or your caregiver needs to

         18  understand them in order to take the medications

         19  accurately. Yet prescription medication labels and

         20  patient information sheets are rarely made available

         21  in languages other than English, so that the New

         22  York Academy of Medicine, also with funding from the

         23  Altman Foundation, we recently completed a study of

         24  access to translated prescription medication labels.

         25                 We surveyed 200 New York City
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          2  pharmacists, and did interviews and focus group

          3  discussions with limited English proficient

          4  patients. In our pharmacists survey, we found that

          5  88 percent of the pharmacies reported limited

          6  English proficient patients on a daily basis, but of

          7  those pharmacies less than 40 percent reported that

          8  they provided translated labels daily, and 23

          9  percent of them said they never provided translated

         10  labels, so they were giving their patients that

         11  don't speak English prescriptions with only English

         12  labels on them.

         13                 Verbal translation was similarly

         14  inadequate although there are many bilingual

         15  pharmacists in New York City, few of them speak the

         16  language of the community that they're working in.

         17  In our survey, only 22 percent spoke Spanish, which

         18  is the language most common in New York City, and

         19  they, therefore, like the Medicaid offices, rely on

         20  untrained staff like the cashier, other patients or

         21  customers in the pharmacy, or maybe the merchant

         22  next door they'll call up and ask them to come over.

         23

         24                 In our interviews with the limited

         25  English proficient patients, we asked them to bring
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          2  their medication bottles, any medications they were

          3  currently taking, and also found that they were

          4  obviously not getting translated labels since the

          5  pharmacists weren't given them, so of the Spanish

          6  speakers less 20 percent of their medicines had

          7  labels in Spanish, so in a label that they could

          8  actually read.

          9                 So in light of the findings from the

         10  surveys, we have some recommendations that we'd like

         11  to make, one of which is incorporation of medication

         12  concerns into the ongoing language access efforts,

         13  including hospital pharmacies in the hospital- based

         14  language initiatives, developing the clinic or

         15  provider- based systems, like Dr. Collins was

         16  speaking about, where the provider can provide

         17  translated medication instructions, or can help the

         18  patient to get translated instructions either by

         19  directing them to pharmacies that provide

         20  translations, having prescriptions that have maybe a

         21  little box where they can check that the patient

         22  needs the label in another language, or many

         23  hospitals have libraries for patients, so if they

         24  had access to translated information.

         25                 Another thing we found in doing this
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          2  work was that through the Poison Center, the City

          3  actually offers multi- lingual medication

          4  counseling.  They have pharmacists and nursing on

          5  staff and access to telephone translation services,

          6  but that aspect of their services I don't think are

          7  very well known throughout the City and could be of

          8  great benefit to both pharmacists and limited

          9  English proficient patients if they could call the

         10  Poison Center to get the translated counseling.

         11                 We're seeking funding to do some

         12  training and pilot interventions with New York City

         13  pharmacists to address this issue and would welcome

         14  the opportunity to come back with further

         15  information once we do that.  So thank you.

         16                 MS. FREIJ:  Thanks very much.  Thanks

         17  to the Health Committee Chair Rivera, who's off

         18  voting on the Land Use Committee, and the Members of

         19  the Council for holding this Hearing on the issue of

         20  overcoming language barriers in health care.  My

         21  name is Maysoun Freij, and I am the Health Advocacy

         22  Associate at the New York Immigration Coalition.

         23                 Looking back at testimony given in

         24  2004, the last time that Council held hearings to

         25  address communication barriers in the health care
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          2  system, I'm struck by how far we've come and how far

          3  we still need to go in order to create a health care

          4  system that works for more than one million New

          5  Yorkers who are limited English proficient.

          6                 New State regulations went into

          7  effect in September, 2006 that strengthen and expand

          8  mandates set for hospitals to communicate with

          9  limited English proficient patients, and Local Law

         10  73 mandated improvements in HRA and Medicaid offices

         11  in 2003. However, immigrant New Yorkers can still

         12  cite language as one of the biggest barriers to

         13  accessing health care and public insurance. In this

         14  testimony I'll highlight concerns within the realm

         15  of City government, namely HRA, HHC and the City

         16  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene to offer

         17  recommendations to improve conditions met by

         18  immigrants on a regular basis.

         19                 What we're asking for really is that

         20  the government use its laws and its ability to

         21  enforce those laws to change the culture in which

         22  limited English proficient patients enter and

         23  interact with the health care system.  We recognize

         24  that use of interpreters and use of translated

         25  materials and use of language lines are all a
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          2  behavior that need to be practiced and to be

          3  experienced and to be trained in, and that to become

          4  familiar and comfortable with these processes would

          5  really improve the entire system in which limited

          6  English proficient people interact with the health

          7  care system.  So we're looking for an overall change

          8  in the culture of health care delivery that will

          9  improve the health care services for limited

         10  proficient people.

         11                 In talking about limited proficient

         12  people, I'll also have to make a plug for something

         13  that will help this population in a way other than

         14  in health care, and that there is an unmet demand

         15  for English language classes generally for limited

         16  English proficient people.  Many immigrants' desire

         17  to learn English is stifled by the lack of

         18  opportunities to do so, and only 3.4 percent of the

         19  City's estimated need for adult English classes is

         20  being met.  Insufficient funding and long waiting

         21  lists for English classes prevent immigrants from

         22  learning the language and fully participating in our

         23  society.  The importance of English classes and

         24  other adult education programs for economic, health

         25  and civics progress is clear.
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          2                 Therefore, we're basically asking the

          3  City Council and the Mayor to increase funding for

          4  New York City adult literacy initiative, NYCALI, by

          5  $20 million and baseline funding for the immigrant

          6  opportunities initiative at $9.25 million.

          7                 Now the problems facing LEP patients

          8  remain despite an evolving legal framework.  As I

          9  said, this September, 2006 regulations set basic

         10  standards around hospital communications with LEP

         11  patients.  It makes it clear that every LEP patient

         12  has the right to meaningful access, to hospital

         13  services, requires every hospital to develop a

         14  language assistance program, designate a

         15  coordinator, identify and document patients'

         16  language of preference and the acceptance or refusal

         17  of language assistance services and sets clear

         18  limits on the use of friends, strangers and family

         19  members as interpreters, including age restrictions.

         20    These regulations are applied to all public and

         21  private hospitals throughout New York State.

         22                 We also are looking at Local Law 73,

         23  which was passed in 2003, and we've seen a couple

         24  reports by the Department of Health and Mental

         25  Hygiene as well as HRA that talk about the
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          2  implementation plans.  The Department of Health and

          3  Mental Hygiene's implementation plan, that was

          4  published in March, 2006, basically indicates that

          5  signs have been distributed, staff has been trained

          6  to use the language lines, identification cards have

          7  been given that can be given to patients so that

          8  they can identify what languages they speak and that

          9  they are basically on track to be complete with

         10  their implementation plan.

         11                 HRA made similar commitments in their

         12  February, 2006 implementation plan with the caveat

         13  that implementation would be 100 percent complete

         14  five years from the effective date of Local Law 73.

         15  Four years from that date, or by today, HRA planned

         16  to be 40 percent complete.  However, communication

         17  barriers at Medicaid offices remain rampant and are

         18  now one of the main reasons that New Yorkers who are

         19  eligible for free or low- cost public health

         20  insurance are unable to enroll or stay enrolled.

         21                 Advocates report serious problems

         22  facing immigrants in Medicaid offices.  LEP

         23  applicants and beneficiaries are generally not

         24  provided with adequate language access during the

         25  application and interview process.  LEP individuals
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          2  seeking Medicaid are not assisted by bilingual

          3  staff, in- person or telephone interpretation or

          4  written materials translated into languages other

          5  than language and occasionally Spanish.  This leaves

          6  applicants dependent on strangers in the waiting

          7  room, family members or informal interpreters who

          8  demand payment for their services and causes

          9  confusion because Medicaid applicants must provide

         10  legal permission for another person to speak on

         11  their behalf, which is another bureaucratic hurdle

         12  for LEP individuals.

         13                 The use of unskilled interpreters

         14  adds additional problems such as confusion regarding

         15  the benefits and services, the conflicts of interest

         16  between their interpreter and those needing services

         17  and the embarrassment and family conflicts,

         18  especially in the case where children are used, and

         19  feelings of humiliation and discrimination.

         20                 In addition to the new language

         21  assistance law that went into effect in 2006, in

         22  2007 we have a new financial assistance law that

         23  will help anyone who is 300 percent of the federal

         24  poverty level or less receive financial assistance

         25  at any hospital, public or private, in New York
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          2  State.  Given that over half of the immigrant

          3  population is living at 200 percent of the federal

          4  poverty level or less, we think this will have a

          5  great impact.

          6                 I mention this law because financial

          7  assistance, as well as language assistance are the

          8  main barriers for immigrants seeking health care and

          9  health care services.  This new financial assistance

         10  law also has a strong element of language assistance

         11  in it, which says that the financial assistance laws

         12  and applications and everything must be made

         13  available in the multiple languages that are served

         14  by the hospitals.  So we are very thankful for this

         15  new law and really look forward to seeing how it

         16  goes.

         17                 We believe that these pieces of

         18  legislation, basically the state regulation on

         19  language assistance and financial assistance and

         20  Local Law 73, will revolutionize immigrants' access

         21  to health care in New York City.  However, as

         22  preliminary results in a study conducted by the

         23  NYIC, the Center for Immigrant Health, and twelve

         24  community- based organizations indicate, their

         25  impact has yet to be consistently felt by LEP
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          2  patients.

          3                 The study monitored seven hospitals

          4  in New York City, both public and private, and found

          5  signs posted to notify patients about language and

          6  financial system services although these signs are

          7  not always very visible or located in prominent

          8  places.  Hospital- based interpretation services are

          9  delayed or do not extend throughout the entire

         10  course of the medical visit from registration

         11  through discharge.  Often patients reported that

         12  they received language assistance services in the

         13  emergency room or with their provider, but didn't

         14  receive forms translated in their language or

         15  discharge instructions in languages other than in

         16  English, and pharmacy prescriptions were not given

         17  in multiple languages either, which is consistent

         18  with the New York Academy of Medicine's study.

         19                 Most commonly, patients reported that

         20  if they have a friend or family member with them who

         21  can speak some English, that hospitals are not

         22  following through on their responsibility to offer

         23  interpretation services, whereas, it's first and

         24  foremost the provider's responsibility to offer

         25  those services.
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          2                 So we are very concerned about that.

          3  It's sad to report that patients are still relying

          4  on hand gestures and broken English to communicate

          5  sensitive medical matters to their providers in many

          6  hospitals in New York.

          7                 These findings indicate that despite

          8  the solid legal basis for LEP patients to receive

          9  language assistance services when seeking health

         10  care or public insurance, there are still persistent

         11  problems with implementation.  We're working as the

         12  immigrant coalition to educate community members

         13  about their rights to these services, so that they

         14  can really advocate for them and also try to allay

         15  some of the fears that immigrants have seeking

         16  health care and public health insurance that just

         17  come about because they're fearful of consequences

         18  to their immigration status.  But we believe that

         19  institutions are slow to adapt and government is

         20  slow to enforce these new rules, and we really look

         21  for some help with that.

         22                 There are some signs of hope.  The

         23  Immigration Coalition would like to take the

         24  opportunity to thank HHC and their system for their

         25  continuing effort to improve immigrants' access to
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          2  quality, affordable health care by providing

          3  communication assistance to many patients who cannot

          4  access services in English. HHC continues to improve

          5  by working with community groups to attract LEP

          6  patients to their facilities, including their child

          7  health clinics, and reassures immigrants about their

          8  rights to confidential care through the public

          9  service announcements.

         10                 In addition to HHC, there was a

         11  surprise in the state budget this year that offers

         12  private hospitals in New York City two years of

         13  special funding for their Medicaid patients, and

         14  part of this funding was inspired by the state

         15  language regulation and will go toward the number of

         16  LEP patients served in the hospital's area during

         17  that second year of funding.

         18                 As far as our recommendations, we

         19  request greater enforcement at HRA.  Enforcement of

         20  Local Law 73 will result in greater improvements at

         21  the City's Medicaid and public benefits office.  LEP

         22  individuals, as I said, are still treated with

         23  hostility and suspicion, are often denied services

         24  because they do not speak English.  Certification of

         25  Medicaid poses the first challenge, but re-
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          2  certification another, and half of all first time

          3  enrollees do not receive continuous coverage due to

          4  difficulties and complications with the re-

          5  certification procedures, and this is compounded by

          6  anyone who doesn't speak English.

          7                 Access NYC, this online system for

          8  social services, offers some promise for advocates

          9  in finding forms in multiple languages, but there is

         10  still concern about whether Medicaid offices will

         11  actually accept the Access NYC forms, and computer

         12  access and literacy among low income LEP individuals

         13  puts access NYC out of reach.  Therefore, forms must

         14  be available in multiple languages at Medicaid

         15  offices.

         16                 The City should require HRA to place

         17  more bilingual staff into customer contact positions

         18  and use interpreters for in person and telephone

         19  services and re- train workers on their legal

         20  obligations to offer language assistance services to

         21  LEP individuals.

         22                 We request greater funding for HHC to

         23  expand their language assistance services.  They

         24  offer innovative communication systems to LEP

         25  patients, including their TEMIS system, and greater
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          2  funding would enable HHC to hire interpreters and

          3  bilingual patient navigators.  HHC leads the field

          4  in New York but needs greater resources to maintain

          5  and expand their services.

          6                 Staffing and quality assurance.  We

          7  believe that the government can play a role in

          8  setting quality and ethical standards and

          9  credentialing and that the Department of Health and

         10  HHC can build out their communication assistance

         11  services.  Also, using collective bargaining, the

         12  government can build in incentives for hiring

         13  bilingual staff and designate special interpreting

         14  functions for bilingual staff.  This will reward

         15  staff that are truly bilingual and also trained in

         16  medical interpreting rather than simply add on job

         17  assignments to non- interpreting job functions.

         18                 Finally, we are looking for a

         19  workforce development plan.  We believe that the

         20  City should sponsor a workforce development program

         21  to bring more bilingual or multi- lingual New

         22  Yorkers into the healing professions.

         23                 Much of this testimony today has been

         24  centered around the diversity of the City's

         25  population, and this diversity can really be tapped
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          2  in order to provide better, safer and efficient

          3  services in the health care and public insurance

          4  settings.  We believe that the multi- lingual and

          5  multi- cultural workforce that truly respects the

          6  needs of LEP patients, and that is recognized and

          7  compensated for the language skills, will greatly

          8  improve the quality of health care for immigrants in

          9  New York.  We want to thank you for the opportunity

         10  of speaking today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, that's

         12  quite a mouthful there.  Before I turn it back over

         13  to the Chair, I want to make a few comments.  First

         14  of all, I would like to know that HHC does ask, it

         15  should ask for great funding for those projects that

         16  you spoke about.  When we hear from them, we will

         17  then consider that fully.

         18                 I want to ask a question in terms of

         19  the translation, do you think it will be the

         20  pharmacists and all those folks will think in terms

         21  of liability when they do the translation?  Because

         22  of the fact that simple miscue in terms of the

         23  translation can cause bad effect in terms of that.

         24  For example, if the instruction is to give one

         25  teaspoon full, and by translation you put a

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  tablespoon, it can create a problem.  So I'm saying,

          3  is that agreed to liability for the pharmacists, as

          4  opposed to if there's going to be any other

          5  problems?

          6                 MS. FREIJ:  We worked on this project

          7  with pharmacists and talked to them a lot about it,

          8  and I think it kind of goes both ways and maybe

          9  depends on the pharmacists.  They are definitely

         10  concerned about the liability of providing

         11  instructions in a language they don't understand.

         12  On the other hand, they are also, at least some of

         13  them concerned about providing instructions in a

         14  language that they know the patient doesn't

         15  understand.

         16                 By New York State law, they do have

         17  to provide English, so what they would have to do is

         18  provide the instructions in two languages, so

         19  providing the English gives them some protection,

         20  but another thing we're going to do is to kind of

         21  look at -- it's part of a lot of the dispensing

         22  software that pharmacies have that the translation

         23  is built into it, so if there was some way to check

         24  that they're reliable translations, and they can see

         25  in English if it's right and that it's proof
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          2  reliable in the past, then hopefully they would get

          3  over some of that concern.  But it definitely is a

          4  concern for pharmacists.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  My last comment

          6  is basically this, I see you all share my concern

          7  about the urgency in terms of the amount of funding

          8  we are getting for English language and other folks

          9  who want to learn English language in civics, at

         10  least the 9 point whatever million you'll be

         11  getting, it's quite inadequate, so we need at least

         12  $21 million.  I want you to speak to the Chair of

         13  the Health Committee and all the Chairs to let them

         14  know that we do need more money for immigration to

         15  help English language learners and the civics, all

         16  right?  Back to the Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         18  much, Council Member Stewart, for holding the fort

         19  while I was over voting on Land Use.  I want to

         20  thank you for your testimony and recommendations.

         21  We heard from HHC, and they did acknowledge the fact

         22  that there is more funding that's needed in terms of

         23  these vital programs.  They are vital to the City of

         24  New York to make sure that communication is easy and

         25  accessible to people who need it the most, so I want
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          2  to thank you for your recommendations and for your

          3  time in joining us here today.

          4                 Next then we have Anthony Feliciano

          5  from CPHS who will be joining us with some

          6  testimony.  Thank you, Anthony.  Just state your

          7  name for the record, and you may proceed with your

          8  testimony.

          9                 MR. FELICIANO:  My name is Anthony

         10  Feliciano.  I work for the Commissioner in the

         11  Public Health system.  I am the coordinator and the

         12  organizer for CPHS.  That's sort for Commission on

         13  the Public's Health System.  Thank you for giving me

         14  the opportunity to testify on the issue of language

         15  access in health care settings.

         16                 The Commission on the Public's Health

         17  System considers doctor/patient communication and

         18  all encounters at the health care setting, one of

         19  the most critical issues of our time.             An

         20  inability to understand even the most basic

         21  information is a recipe for potential and often real

         22  disaster. Study after study has shown the harm that

         23  can be done when a patient does not understand what

         24  is being said to them or even is unable to

         25  communicate what is wrong, where the pain is and all
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          2  other details that are so critical to our well

          3  being.

          4                 CPHS provides educational sessions on

          5  language access as part of our training series on

          6  how to help the uninsured. An entire chapter of the

          7  manual that we work from is devoted to language

          8  access.  During this part of the training, a great

          9  deal of questions are asked, and confusion is

         10  expressed that this is a requirement, and yet

         11  everyone knows about someone or many people who have

         12  not been provided with an interpreter, some with

         13  very dire consequences.

         14                 CPHS also receives phone calls asking

         15  for help when interpreters are not available.  Two

         16  recent situations I will highlight later in my

         17  testimony.  We have also received phone calls from

         18  staff, often social workers at hospitals asking

         19  where they can refer a patient for care who speaks a

         20  particular language.

         21                 Access to interpreters and

         22  translational materials is not new.  They are

         23  federal requirements under Title VI of the Civil

         24  Rights Act.  In New York State there are regulatory

         25  requirements since 1986 that where one or more
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          2  percent of the community speaks a primary language

          3  other than English, interpretation must be provided.

          4    When this regulation was approved, some funding

          5  was made available to hospitals to compensate them

          6  for providing interpreting.  Unfortunately,

          7  compliance with this regulation has not been

          8  widespread.  Since September 13, 2006, new stronger

          9  state regulations are in place. Now we need to

         10  ensure that they are adhered to and enforced by the

         11  State Department of Health.  Here are some thoughts

         12  on how this can be done.

         13                 The state legislature just increased

         14  Medicaid funding for New York City's voluntary

         15  hospitals with a requirement in part that a funding

         16  be related to language access.  The City Council

         17  could work with advocacy organizations to ensure

         18  that the City Health Department's regulations for

         19  this spending actually is tied to the money to

         20  provide interpreters and translating all important

         21  patient care documents, including financial

         22  information.

         23                 Second, work with advocacy

         24  organizations and language access taskforces

         25  coordinated by the New York Immigrant Coalition to
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          2  fashion state legislation offering Medicaid

          3  reimbursement for interpreter services.

          4                 Third, use the good office of the

          5  City Council and all its Council Members to provide

          6  information in all of our communities about the

          7  requirement to offer all health care patients

          8  interpretation services and translation information.

          9                 Fourth, provide funding in the City

         10  budget to expand the TEMIS system, as you all heard,

         11  to all HHC facilities.  TEMIS is an electronic

         12  simultaneous translation system, and you heard it

         13  was developed by Bellevue and Gouverneur.  Funding

         14  from the City Council allows the system to expand to

         15  Kings County Hospital. Additional funding for TEMIS

         16  and hiring of interpreters will expand the ability

         17  of HHC facilities to provide quality health care

         18  services to all of its patients.

         19                 CPHS staff has been involved in

         20  trying to help two families recently, and this is

         21  some examples that we have that patients that have

         22  found themselves in very difficult situations. Both

         23  families were brought to our attention through

         24  organizations that attended our educational

         25  sessions.
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          2                 In one situation, a Spanish speaking

          3  woman gave birth to a child born with severe medical

          4  problems.  She came to our attention when the baby

          5  was three months old and had been hospitalized

          6  during all that time. Even though the infant was

          7  hospitalized at a public hospital in Manhattan,

          8  communication with the mother was almost non-

          9  existent.  In three months, not one staff member had

         10  communicated with the mother in Spanish, the extent

         11  of the baby's problems.  A call to higher officials

         12  affiliated with the hospital resulted in a family

         13  conference, which I actually attended and helped

         14  advocate with the mother.  It was scheduled for the

         15  next day in which staff involved with the baby's

         16  care gathered to explain the problem.  A Spanish

         17  speaking social worker was then assigned to work

         18  with that mother.

         19                 Another example is, a Chinese

         20  speaking young couple in which the mother had

         21  recently given birth, and this was at a voluntary

         22  hospital, not in a public hospital, throughout a

         23  long and difficult delivery there was no effort to

         24  communicate in the language of the mother.  When the

         25  baby was finally born with serious medical problems,
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          2  the staff asked the father to sign a form to

          3  transfer the baby to another hospital.  The form was

          4  in English, and no effort was made to translate it

          5  to him.  It was not until the father refused to sign

          6  the form that the staff found someone who was not a

          7  trained interpreter but did speak the Chinese

          8  dialect.  Fortunately, we were able to contact New

          9  York Lawyers for the Public Interest to work on this

         10  with the family.

         11                 Let me just mention another piece to

         12  this.  I know we talk a lot about immigrants and

         13  having access to health care in their language, but,

         14  again, I grew up translating for my mother in

         15  hospital settings, and I think also we're talking

         16  about folks also who are born here who, per se, may

         17  not speak English, but who also need those

         18  interpretation translation services.

         19                 We're also talking about there may be

         20  laws up here, and there are people at the top level

         21  administering, but it has to trickle down to the

         22  front level staff.  People need to know not only

         23  that they have to provide the interpreter, but it

         24  has to be at the front level because we're talking

         25  about people encountering at all levels problems in
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          2  accessing care, particularly where they don't speak

          3  English.

          4                 The other piece is that language by

          5  itself interpretation is not let alone where our

          6  cultural competency. We're talking about people when

          7  we're speaking to someone in English, we also have

          8  to understand their culture in terms of their

          9  ethnicity.  Just interpreting and not understanding

         10  what goes on in the culture, a lot of problems can

         11  even happen.  So I think culture is pretty much part

         12  of language, and language is pretty much of culture.

         13    Those things have to be tied in when you're

         14  looking at language access as well.  Thank you

         15  again, and we hope to work with you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Anthony, thank

         17  you very much. I see no other people to testify.  We

         18  thank you for your participation, and this meeting

         19  is adjourned.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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